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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Bl #F 3t @ Fa AR F

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HLB

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT TO THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF

DAQING DAIRY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

INTRODUCTION

We were engaged to review the interim financial
information set out on pages 16 to 65, which
comprises the condensed statement of financial
position of Daqging Dairy Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) as at 30 June 2013 and the related
condensed statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and changes in equity for
the six months then ended, and explanatory notes.
The Main Board Listing Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited require the preparation of a report on
interim financial information to be in compliance with
the relevant provisions thereof and International
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting” issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. The directors of the Company are
responsible for the preparation and presentation of
this interim financial information in accordance with
IAS 34. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion
on this interim financial information based on our
review. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.
Because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Conclusion paragraphs, however, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence as a basis of expressing a conclusion on
the interim financial information.

SCOPE OF REVIEW

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410,
“Review of Interim Financial Information Performed
by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). A review of the interim
financial information consists of making inquiries,
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TR RENERARS

primarily of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters, and applying analytical and
other review procedures. A review is substantially
less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and consequently does not
enable us to obtain assurance that we would
become aware of all significant matters that might
be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF

CONCLUSION
a) Opening balances and the comparative
information

The opening balances and the comparative
figures disclosed in the interim condensed
financial statements are based on (i) the
unaudited interim condensed financial
statements of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2012 of which our
review report dated 21 January 2016
expressed a disclaimer conclusion; and (ii)
the audited financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2012 of which our auditors’ report dated
21 January 2016 expressed a disclaimer
opinion. The matters which resulted in that
disclaimer conclusion and disclaimer opinion
included (a) authenticity of accounting
records and de-consolidation of all
subsidiaries; (b) incomplete books and
records; (c) non-compliance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and omission of disclosures; (d)
bank balances and cash; (e) amount due to
a subsidiary; (f) accrued expenses and other
payables; (g) contingent liabilities and
commitments; (h) share-based payments; (i)
events after the reporting period; (j) related
party transactions; and (k) going concern
basis of accounting. Due to lack of complete
books and records of the Company, we have
been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence as to whether the opening
balances as at 1 January 2013 and the
comparative figures for the six months
ended 30 June 2012 were properly recorded
and accounted for and in compliance with
the requirements of applicable IFRSs
including IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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b)

REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Statements”. There were no alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the opening
balances and the comparative figures were
free from material misstatement. Any
adjustments to the opening balances as at 1
January 2013 that would be required may
have a consequential significant effect on the
Company’s assets and liabilities as at 1
January 2013 and 30 June 2013 and its
results for the six months ended 30 June
2012 and 2013, and the presentation and
disclosure thereof in the financial
statements.

Authenticity of accounting records and
de-consolidation of all subsidiaries

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
predecessor auditors of the Company (the
“Predecessor Auditors”) identified certain
potential irregularities in respect of certain
accounting records and transactions
recorded in the books of the Company’s
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries
incorporated in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) namely, Da Qing Dairy Ltd.
(KEI SBmAEREMTAR) Heilongjiang
Chang Qing Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (£82/T
BEIEAEARETAE) and Wuchang Benniu
Muye Co., Ltd (AEHFWEAREERF)
(collectively referred to as the “PRC
Subsidiaries”). The Predecessor Auditors
subsequently resigned on 21 March 2012.
As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, certain new
directors were appointed following the
change in controlling shareholder and it was
announced on 6 November 2013 that a firm
of forensic accounting specialists (the
“Forensic Accountants”) was appointed to
investigate these potential irregularities (the
“Forensic Investigation”). Both the Forensic
Accountants and the directors of the
Company have been unable to get access to
the books and records of the PRC
Subsidiaries. The directors of the Company
have also been unable to locate the
complete books and records of the
Company and Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd.
which is the Company’s directly wholly-
owned subsidiary incorporated in the
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Republic of Singapore (“Global Milk”). The
directors of the Company have further
confirmed to us that the previous
management of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the
“Group”) did not response to their request
for any information. Furthermore, the
Company resolved to put Global Milk into
winding up in a shareholder’s meeting held
on 3 December 2015.

Given these circumstances, the directors of
the Company have not consolidated the
financial statements of Global Milk and the
PRC Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “De-consolidated Subsidiaries”) and no
interim condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Company were prepared
for the six months ended 30 June 2013.

The directors of the Company have
determined to exclude the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries in presenting the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows
and did not prepare interim condensed
consolidated financial statements for the
Group under the above mentioned
circumstances. The exclusion of the financial
position, results and cash flows of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries and no interim
condensed consolidated financial statements
have been prepared for the Group is a
departure from the requirements of IFRS 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements”.

Due to the lack of complete books and
records of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries,
we have been unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence and explanation to
assess the accounting treatment on de-
consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries and the resulting movement in
the statutory surplus reserve. We are also
unable to ascertain the impact of the
potential irregularities with respect to the
accounting records and transactions of the
Group, if any, and the de-consolidation of the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries on the interim
condensed financial statements. Any
adjustment that would be required may have
a consequential significant effect on the net
liabilities of the Company as at 30 June
2013 and the loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company for the period then
ended.
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c)

a)

REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION
FTHMBENER®RE

Incomplete books and records

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements of the
Company, the directors of the Company are
unable to locate the books and records of
the Company and were unable to
unreservedly confirm its financial position,
results of operations and cash flow. We were
therefore unable to carry out satisfactory
procedures to obtain reasonable assurance
regarding the completeness, accuracy,
existence, valuation, ownership, classification
and disclosures of the transactions
undertaken by the Company. Accordingly, we
were unable to ascertain whether the
financial statements of the Company has
been properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

Non-compliance with IFRSs and omission of
disclosures

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, as the
Company’s interim condensed financial
statements have been prepared by the
directors of the Company based on
incomplete books and records and the board
of directors of the Company believes it is
almost impossible and impracticable to
ascertain the correct amounts and balances
in the interim condensed financial
statements. Consequently, the directors of
the Company were unable to represent that
the interim condensed financial statements
comply with IFRSs, or that the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited have been complied
with. Given these circumstances, which are
more fully described in note 2.1, there were
no practicable alternative procedures that we
could perform to quantify the extent of
adjustments that might be necessary in
respect of the Company’s interim condensed
financial statements.
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION
FTHMBENERRSE

e

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Bank balances and cash

As disclosed in notes 2.1 and 9 to the
interim condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company were unable to
locate complete books and records of bank
accounts and whereabouts of the bank
balances and cash as of the date of
approval of the interim condensed financial
statements. Given these circumstances, the
directors of the Company have recognised (i)
losses of approximately RMB2,035,000 in
respect of the aggregate amounts of the
credit balances of bank transactions took
place during the six months ended 30 June
2013 as other suspense account in the
statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the six months
ended 30 June 2013; and (i) liabilities of
approximately RMB1,700,000 in respect of
the aggregate amounts of the debit balances
of bank transactions took place during the
six months ended 30 June 2013 as other
payables in the statements of financial
position at 30 June 2013. Due to lack of
complete books and records of the
Company, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence as to whether
the bank balances and cash, the resulting
loss recognised as other suspense account
and the resulting liabilities recognised as
other payables were properly recorded and
accounted for and in compliance with the
requirements of applicable IFRSs. There were
no alternative procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the bank balances and cash, the resulting
loss recognised as other suspense account
and the resulting liabilities recognised as
other payables were free from material
misstatement. Any adjustments that would
be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the Company’s net
liabilities at 31 December 2012 and 30 June
2013 and consequently net loss and cash
flows of the Company for the for the six
months ended 30 June 2013, and the related
disclosures thereof in the interim condensed
financial statements.

e
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Amount due to a subsidiary

As disclosed in note 10 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
Company recorded an amount due to a
subsidiary of approximately RMB810,000. As
further disclosed in note 2.1 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate the complete books and records of
the Company and Global Milk and have been
unable to get access to the books and
records of the PRC Subsidiaries. Due to the
lack of complete books and records of the
Company and Global Milk, we have been
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to determine whether the amount
due to a subsidiary was properly recorded
and accounted for and in compliance with
the requirements of applicable IFRSs. There
were no alternative procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the amount due to a subsidiary were free
from material misstatements. Any adjustment
that would be required may have a
consequential significant effect on the net
liabilities of the Company as at 30 June
2013 and loss attributable to the equity
holders of the Company for the period then
end.

Accrued expenses and other payables

As disclosed in notes 2.1 and 10 to the
interim condensed financial statements,
included in the accrued expenses and other
payables in the statement of financial
position of the Company as at 30 June
2013 were other payables of approximately
RMB14,229,000 among which (i)
RMB10,642,000 were liabilities recognised in
respect of the aggregate amounts of the
debit balances of bank transactions as the
directors of the Company were unable to
locate the complete books and records of
bank accounts and whereabouts of these
bank balances and cash as of the date of
approval of the interim condensed financial
statements; and (i) RMB3,587,000 were
other payables that the directors of the
Company have been unable to locate
relevant books and records. Due to the lack
of complete books and records of the

9
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Company, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence as to whether
these accrued expenses and other payables
were properly recorded and accounted for
and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable IFRSs. There were no alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the accrued
expenses and other payables were free from
material misstatements. Any adjustments that
would be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the balances of the
Company’s accrued expenses and other
payables, the Company’s net liabilities as at
30 June 2013 and consequently net loss of
the Company for the six months ended 30
June 2013, and the related disclosures
thereof in the interim condensed financial
statements.

Contingent liabilities and commitments

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, due to the
lack of complete books and records of the
Company and the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence and
explanations as to whether the contingent
liabilities and commitments committed by the
Company were properly recorded and
accounted for and in compliance with the
requirements of IFRSs including International
Accounting Standard 37 “Provision,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
and |AS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. There were
no alternative procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the contingent liabilites and commitments
were free from material misstatements. Any
adjustment that would be required may have
a consequential significant effect on the net
liabilities of the Company as at 30 June
2013 and the loss attributable to the equity
holders for the six months then ended and
the related disclosures thereof in the interim
condensed financial statements.
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Share-based payments

Due to lack of complete books and records
of the Company, we have been unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence as to
whether the movements and balances of the
share option reserve were properly recorded
and accounted for and in compliance with
applicable IFRSs including IFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment”. There were no alternative
procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the movements and
balances of the balances of the share option
reserve were free from material
misstatements. Any adjustment that would
be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the balances of the
share option reserve, the Company’s net
liabilities as at 30 June 2013 and
consequently net loss and cash flow of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June
2013, and the related disclosures thereof in
the interim condensed financial statements.

Events after the reporting period

Due to lack of complete books and records
of the Company, we have been unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence as to
whether the events after the reporting period
were properly recorded and accounted for
and in compliance with the requirements of
applicable IFRSs including IAS 10 “Events
after the Reporting Period”. There were no
practical alternative procedures that we
could perform over the significant
transactions which occurred during the
period from 1 July 2013 to the date of this
auditors’ report. Any adjustment that would
be required may have a consequential
significant effect on the Company’s net
liabilities as at 30 June 2013 and
consequently net loss of the Company for
the six months ended 30 June 2013, and the
related disclosures thereof in the interim
condensed financial statements.
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Related party transactions

Due to lack of complete books and records of
the Company, we have been unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence as to whether
the related party transactions disclosures were
properly recorded and accounted for and in
compliance with the requirements of applicable
IFRSs including IAS 24 “Related Party
Disclosures”. There were no practical
alternative procedures that we could perform
over the related party transactions which
occurred during the six months ended 30
June 2013. Any adjustments that would be
required may have a consequential significant
effect on the Company’s net liabilities as at 30
June 2013 and consequently net loss of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June
2013, and the related disclosures thereof in the
interim condensed financial statements.

Going concern basis of accounting

As explained in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, in making
their assessment of the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, the directors of
the Company have considered (i) the Company
incurred a loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately RMB2,408,000
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 and
as of that date, the Company’s total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by approximately
RMB17,081,000; (i) following de-consolidation
of the De-consolidated Subsidiaries, the
Company become an investment holding
company without conducting other business;
(i) the Company has been placed in the
second delisting stage as of the date of
approval of the financial statements; and (iv) as
disclosed in note 21, the directors of the
Company are unable to represent that all
present and contingent liabilities of the
Company have been completely identified.
Given these circumstances, which are more
fully described in note 21, there were no
practicable procedures that we could perform
to form a conclusion on whether management
has considered all relevant events and
conditions when making assessment on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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REPORT ON REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

DISCLAIMER OF CONCLUSION

Because of the significance of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Conclusion
paragraphs, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence to form a conclusion on the
interim financial information. Accordingly, we do not
express a conclusion on the interim financial
information.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat

Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 21 January 2016
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF PROF\T OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BHEZERE

Lt 2 [ W& R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

Six months ended 30 June

BEARA=t+HILEREAR

2013 2012
—E—=5 —T——fF
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (R EZ)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i 5 ARETR ARBTF T

Revenue Uz 3 = -
Cost of sales 4 & X AR - -
Gross profit £7 = -
Administrative expenses THHX (373) (8,134)
Other suspense account Hih B R BRI 4 (2,035) (3,396)
Loss before taxation BB RIAS 1B 5 (2,408) (11,530)
Income tax expenses RS x - -
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD HREsiE (2,408) (11,530)
Other comprehensive income MR B HE

for the period, net of Htemss:

income tax:
Items that may be reclassified HEA[pEE R 74

subsequently to profit or loss: Z2Em2EA -
Exchange differences on REZHERERZ

translating to presentation EHZE&

currency 19 (4)
Other comprehensive income A FEHE

for the period, net of Hihzmbks

income tax 19 (@)
Total comprehensive loss for HA2EE B4

the period (2,389) (11,534)

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Interim Report 2013



CONDENSED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BHER REMEE WS X

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI~1EA

Six months ended 30 June

BEARA=t+HILEREAR

2013 2012
—E—=F T ——F
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REEZ) (R EZ)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETR ARBTF T
Loss for the period EATIHAANEN
attributable to owners of HAEsE
the Company (2,408) (11,530)
Total comprehensive loss for AATHEHA
the period attributable to EEHR2mE
owners of the Company BHEEE (2,396) (11,534)
LOSS PER SHARE ESASSE £-PN 31
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BREBE
OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY 8
Basic and diluted BEARREE RMBA R RMBA R #
(0.002) 5t (0.011)7T

2013 ISR E AREAXRERABRQF
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

5 B B 3551k R &R

As at 30 June 2013 R=ZF—=FNH=+H

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
R-¥—Z=%f R-ZT——F
~A=+H +=-A=+—8
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (&%)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AREFT ARBF T
Non-current assets kHEEE
Property, plant and equipment 473 - B &= & & & = -
Prepaid lease payments EAHEER = -
Intangible assets BEEAE = —
Deferred tax assets R IEE E - -
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE = -
Prepayment and deposits paid FEfTZIE LB IES = -
Prepaid lease payments FEREER - -
Bank balances and cash WTHEHRERS 9 55 390
55 390
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued expenses and other &t RISz K E At fE
payables HIA 10 (17,136) 15,082
(17,136) 15,082
Net current liabilities REBAREFE (17,081) (14,692)
Total assets less current EEERBRIEE
liabilities (17,081) (14,692)

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

Interim Report 2013



CONDENSED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

& B B %5 ik R &R

As at 30 June 2013 R=ZZFE—=F~NH=+H

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2013 2012

R-ZFT—=% MZE——F
~A=+H +=-A=+—8

(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEX) (&%)
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AREFT ARBF T

Capital and reserves BARRGHE
Share capital & A< 11 9 9
Reserves & (17,090) (14,701)
(17,081) (14,692)

Non-current liabilities Ed0=R
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE = -
Borrowings EEA - -
(17,081) (14,692)

The interim condensed financial statements on
pages 16 to 65 were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 21 January 2016
and are signed on its behalf by:

FI6AE RO 2T HBEAHBHHRER N =
E-RFE-RA-T - RAEEFESHERERE
TE THUTESFARFEE:

2013 ISR E AREAXRERABRQF
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CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GRS E

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

Share
Share Share option Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total

ER
k#x  BRHEE BREGRS L1 RitER @t

RVMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTT ARBTT ARETRT ARETR

At 1 January 2012 (Audited) ~ R=T—=F—F—H
(B& %) 9 1142,805 10,769 - (1,158,805) (5,222)

Recognition of share-based BREAH

payments - - 7,891 - - 7,891
Loss and total comprehensive HIREER2EBE
loss for the period ok - - - (4) (11,530) (11,534)

At 30 June 2012 (Unaudited) R=F—-%7<A=+H
(REER) 9 1,142,805 18,660 @) (1,170,335) (8,865)

At 1 January 2013 (Audited) ~ RZZT—=F—FA—H

(€:&:379) 9 1,142,805 21,216 = (1,178,722)  (14,692)
Lapsed of share options B AR R - - (10,608) - 10,608 -
Loss for the period HAER = - - - (2,408) (2,408)
Other comprehensive Hiw2mEBA/ (FE)
income/(loss)
Exchange difference on BREZFIREHRZ
translating to ERER
presentation currency = = = 19 = 19

Total comprehensive income/  HIR2EKR A/ (E1E)
(loss) for the period @ = = = 19 (2,408) (2,389)

At 30 June 2013 (Unaudited) W=¥—=#7xA=+H
(REER) 9 1,142,805 10,608 19 (1,170,522) (17,081)

20 | Daging Dairy Holdings Limited Interim Report 2013



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BEamnER

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=4# A=+ HI1~1EA

Six months ended 30 June

BEARA=t+HILEREAR

2013 2012
—E—=5 —EB——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFT
Net cash (used in) generated from #€%& &8 (FT ) PTG IR & F 58
operating activities (350) 3,436
Net (decrease) increase in cash & &I EEEY R 4) 8 mN
and cash equivalents TR (350) 3,436
Cash and cash equivalents at HYBEEMESEEY
beginning of the period 390 3
Effect of exchange rate for RBUAINE R 2 RITHEBR
converting the bank balances HeZEREE
and cash held in foreign
currencies 15 -
Cash and cash equivalents at HARAERRECEED
ending of the period 55 3,439

2013 ISR E AREAXRERABRQF
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

241

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

GENERAL

Daging Dairy Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15
October 2009.

The address of the registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is Room 2512,
25/F, Cosco Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The interim condensed financial statements
of the Company are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”).

The Company acts as an investment holding
company.

The shares of the Company have been listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 28 October 2010 (the
“Listing”). Trading in the shares of the
Company has been suspended since 22
March 2012.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The interim condensed financial statements
as at and for the six months ended 30 June
2013 comprise the Company.

The interim condensed financial statement
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 have
been prepared in accordance with the
applicable disclosure requirements of
Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and with the International
Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting” issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”). They
have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets and
financial liabilities, which are carried at fair
value.

21
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The interim condensed financial statements
do not include all the information and
disclosures required in the annual financial
statements, and should be read in
conjunction with the annual financial
statements of the Company for the vyear
ended 31 December 2012.

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 March 2012, during
the audit process in respect of the financial
year ended 31 December 2011, irregularities
were identified by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
the predecessor auditors of the Company (the
“Predecessor Auditors”) that (i) certain milk
procurement transactions brought to the
attention of management and acknowledged
by them to be fraudulent; (i) unexplained
differences between sales receipt notes
sighted during the Predecessor Auditors’
works in February 2012 and documents
purporting to be the same sales receipt notes
returned to the Company in March 2012
ostensibly following a Tax Bureau
investigation; (i) the explanation provided by
management — The Tax Bureau investigation
— for removing accounting records which
were then not available to the Predecessor
Auditors continuously during the audit; (iv) the
validity and commercial substance of
acquisitions of milk stations, farm houses and
Holstein cattle; and (v) difficulties the
Predecessor Auditors encountered during
their visits to the local branch of one of the
banks of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) (collectively referred as to the
“Potential Irregularities”). The Predecessor
Auditors tendered its resignation as auditors
of the Company with effect from 21 March
2012 and the Company applied for
suspension of trading in the shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 22
March 2012.

It was further disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 March 2012 that an
independent review committee comprised of
the independent non-executive directors at
that material time and other qualified
independent individuals has been
established to conduct a review on the
Potential Irregularities raised by the
Predecessor Auditors.

21
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

241

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 18 May 2012 and 20
June 2012, during May and June 2012,
those independent non-executive directors at
that material time forming the independent
review committee tendered their resignation
as the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 January 2013, on 2
January 2013, it was discovered that the
heating pipes of the offices of a subsidiary,
Da Qing Dairy Ltd. (KEI @B AERI IR
7)) (“Da Qing Dairy”), located in Daging City,
Heilongjiang Province of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”), were cracked as
result of severe coldness in the northern
area of the PRC and pipeline aging. Due to
cracking of the heating pipes, the first and
the second floors of the offices had been
soaked, and extensive damages were
caused to the office facilities, computers and
documents in the office of finance, logistics,
administration and engineering departments
of the Group (collectively referred to as the
“Incident”).

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 February 2013 and
18 April 2013, Mr. Zhao Yu (“Mr. Zhao”), then
controlling shareholder of the Company at
that material time, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement pursuant to which Mr.
Zhao agreed to sell and Radiant State
Limited (the “New Controlling Shareholder”)
agreed to purchase the sale shares,
representing 52.16% of the entire share
capital of the Company at a consideration of
HK$52,704,000 in cash, representing HK$0.1
per sale share (collectively referred to as the
“Purchase”).
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 July 2013, then New
Controlling Shareholders received valid
acceptances in respect of a total 83,153,622
shares in the Company under the
unconditional mandatory cash offer (the
“Share Acceptance”), representing 8.23% of
the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Following completion of the
Purchase and the Share Acceptance, the
New Controlling Shareholder held 60.39%
equity interest in the Company.

As disclosed in the Company announcement
dated 5 September 2013, Mr. Ng Kwong
Chue Paul was appointed as executive
director of the Company, Ms. Kou Mei In was
appointed as non-executive director of the
Company and Mr. Sze Lin Tang was
appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company (the “New
Management”).
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & =%

241

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

= —

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 November 2013, the
Company engaged RSM Corporate Advisory
(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as
“RSM Nelson Wheeler Corporate Advisory
Limited”) (the “Forensic Accountants”) to
carry out forensic investigation in respect of
the Potential Irregularities (the “Forensic
Investigation”). It was further disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 29
January 2014, 4 April 2014, 13 June 2014, 5
September 2014, 28 November 2014 and 30
April 2015 that (1) the Forensic Accountants
were yet to commence their field work as the
Company and the Forensic Accountants have
encountered difficulties in procuring relevant
parties including the previous management
of the Group to cooperate in the field work
of the Forensic Investigation; (2) two PRC law
firms were engaged with the objectives to (i)
effect the change of legal representatives
and board of directors of Da Qing Dairy,
Heilongjiang Chang Qing Dairy Products Co.,
Ltd. (BRI FEILEBREMEAR) (“Chang
Qing Dairy”) and Wuchang Benniu Muye Co.,
Ltd (AEHEFHEEREFEAR) (“Benniu
Muye”) (collectively referred as to the “PRC
Subsidiaries”) through legal means; and (ii)
obtain information requested by the Forensic
Accountants; and (3) the contemplate change
of respective legal representatives of the
PRC Subsidiaries could not be effected and
due to insufficient financial resources of the
Company, the Forensic Investigation has
been temporarily halted.

In addition, the New Controlling Shareholder
appointed two individuals into the board of
directors of its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Global Milk Products Pte. Ltd, which is
incorporated in the Republic of Singapore
(“Global Milk”). However, the directors of the
Company could not locate the complete
books and records of the Company and
Global Milk and the previous managements
of the Company and Global Milk have
continued no responding the request for any
information. Subsequently in the
shareholders meeting of Global Milk held on
3 December 2015, the Company resolved to
put Global Milk into winding up, subject to
further advice from legal advisors.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & Z.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Given the circumstances that the directors of
the Company have been unable to locate the
complete books and records of the
Company and Global Milk and to get access
to the books and records of the PRC
Subsidiaries and the absence of the Group’s
previous management to explain and validate
the true state of the affairs of the Company
at 31 December 2011, 30 June 2012, 31
December 2012 and 30 June 2013, it would
be extremely difficult and time consuming to
ascertain the true and correct financial
position and profit or loss of 31 December
2011, 31 December 2012 and 30 June 2013
for the Company or to obtain sufficient
documentary information to satisfy
themselves regarding the treatment of the
transactions during the periods and various
balances of the Company, Global Milk and
the PRC Subsidiaries as at 31 December
2011, 30 June 2012, 31 December 2012 and
30 June 2013. In the Company’s board of
directors (the “Board”)’ opinion, any
reconstruction of the correct accounting
records would also be almost impossible as
it will be necessary to verify the information
with external and independent sources and
such sources may not be available or may
be unreliable due to their connections with
the Group’s previous management or those
responsible for the financial information
which the Predecessor Auditors identified the
Potential Irregularities within and outside of
the Group.
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As of the date of the interim condensed
financial statements of the Company, the
directors of the Company have used its best
effort, to the extent commercially
practicable, to reconstruct the accounting
records of the Company, Global Milk and the
PRC Subsidiaries for the years ended 31
December 2011 and 2012 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2012 and 2013,
applying the best estimates and judgement
based on the information of the Group that
are available to the directors of the
Company. However, given substantial portion
of the books and records could not either be
located or accessed and the previous
management of the Group did not response
to the New Management’s request, the
Board believes that as at the date of
approval of the interim condensed financial
statements, it is impossible and impractical
for the directors of the Company to ascertain
the transactions and balances of the
Company, Global Milk and the PRC
Subsidiaries for inclusion in the interim
condensed financial statements of the
Company. Also, due to substantial portion of
the books and records of the Group could
not either be located or could not be
accessed, the Board believes that it is
almost impossible, and not practical, to verify
the financial information as reported in the
consolidated financial statements of the
Group or financial statements of the
Company for previous periods. Accordingly,
the comparative financial information
disclosed in the interim condensed financial
statements only represents such information
as reported in the interim condensed
financial statements of the Company for the
six months ended 30 June 2012 and the
annual financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and
therefore may not be comparable with the
figures for the current period.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Given these circumstances, the Board has
not consolidated the financial statements of
Global Milk and the PRC Subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “De-
consolidated Subsidiaries”) and no
consolidated financial statements of the
Company were prepared since the year
ended 31 December 2011. As such, the
results, assets and liabilities of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries have not been
included into the interim condensed financial
statements of the Company since 1 January
2011. The resulting loss on de-consolidation
of approximately RMB1,583,093,000, which is
determined based on the net asset value of
the De-consolidated Subsidiaries as at 1
January 2011 has been recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the vyear
ended 31 December 2011 and the resulting
movement of approximately RMB55,946,000
has been recorded in the statutory surplus
reserve in the statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2011.

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the interim condensed financial
statements of the Company as at and for the
six months ended 30 June 2013 prepared on
the aforementioned basis is the most
appropriate way of presenting the results and
state of affairs of the Company and the
Group as the directors of the Company were
unable to obtain sufficient documentary
information to satisfy themselves regarding
the transactions and balances related to the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries. However, the
de-consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries is not in compliance with the
requirements of International Financial
Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 10
“Consolidated Financial Statements”. Given
the abovementioned circumstances, the
directors of the Company are unable to
ascertain the impact of the Potential
Irregularities with respect to the accounting
records and transactions of the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries, if any, and the de-
consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries on the interim condensed
financial statements.
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Due to limited books of accounts and
records available to the directors of the
Company, the following disclosures have not
been made in the interim condensed
financial statements:

- Details of the credit policy and aging
of debtors and creditors as required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”);

- Details of contingent liabilities and
commitments as required by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance;

- Details of allowance account for credit
losses, financial risk management and
fair value disclosure as required by
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments —
Disclosures”; and

— Entity-wide disclosures as required by
IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”.

Any adjustments arising from the matters
described above would have a consequential
significant effect on the net loss of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June
2013 and net liabilities of the Company as at
30 June 2013.

21

Interim Report 2013

EHEE

HRARREERENSHER 25t
BR A R AR 8% - AT A KA KRR S
PSR ARE:

)

- B RS LR LS
BRAIDMRE - BRIE BEBERMA
Ko JEW AR IR I FEAS BRI AR iR 2

B

- REBRBAGHHRE  BHEX
REBROEEZFHE

- ZEBRFBRELENETR S
BMTE - WEIZHAE A
EEEREHSRFE  BKAE
REERATEREZFE:
&

~  RERHBRSENFSHE
BHH| 2R ABEEZH
BEK -

B bt IR PTAETTH S EAT R S
ARRBE-ZE-=FRNA=THLRX
BAANBRFERARANRE—=
FRNAZTEMAEFEELERE

=
T .



241

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Due to the limited financial information
available and the previous management of
the Group did not response to the New
Management’s request, the directors of the
Company were unable to obtain sufficient
documentary information to satisfy
themselves regarding the genuineness and
completeness of books and records and the
treatment of various balances as included in
the interim condensed financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 and
have formed the opinion as follows:

As the interim condensed financial
statements have been prepared based on the
lack of books and records available to the
Company, the directors of the Company are
unable to represent that all transactions
entered into by the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 have been
properly reflected in the interim condensed
financial statements. In this connection, the
directors of the Company are also unable to
represent as to the completeness, existence
and accuracy of identification and the
disclosures of revenue and segment
information in note 3, loss before taxation in
note 5, income tax expenses in note 6,
dividends in note 7, loss per share in note 8,
bank balances and cash in note 9, accrued
expenses and other payables in note 10,
share-based payments in note 12, related
party transactions in note 13, commitments
in note 14 and contingent liabilities in note
15.
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As per assessment by the Board, based on
the investigations carried out by the Forensic
Accountants and the information available at
this stage, all identified, required adjustments
have been put through in the interim
condensed financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2013. Since the
investigations may be on-going, any further
adjustments and disclosures, if required,
would be made in the interim condensed
financial statements of the Company as and
when the outcome of the above
uncertainties is known and the consequential
adjustments and disclosures are identified,
and would have a consequential effect on
the net loss of the Company for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 and net
liabilities of the Company as at 30 June
2013.

During the six months ended 30 June 2013,
the Company incurred loss of approximately
RMB2,408,000. In addition, following de-
consolidation of the De-consolidated
Subsidiaries, the Company become an
investment holding company without
conducting other business. It was further
disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 19 May 2015 and 23 November 2015
respectively that the Stock Exchange has
placed the Company in the first delisting
stage on 14 May 2015 and subsequently
placed in the second delisting stage on 19
November 2015 pursuant to Practice Note
17 of the Listing Rules. The directors of the
Company have also been unable to
represent that all present and contingent
liabilities of the Company have been
completely identified as abovementioned.
These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast
significant effect on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 June 2015, on 4
May 2015, the New Controlling Shareholder
entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Global Courage Limited (“Global
Courage”) pursuant to which the New
Controlling Shareholder agreed to sell and
Global Courage agreed to purchase the sale
shares, representing of approximately
60.39% of the entire share capital of the
Company at a consideration of
approximately HK$61,019,000, representing
HK$0.1 per sale share.

Given the circumstance that there exists
potential new shareholder to invest in the
Company, the directors of the Company have
adopted the going concern basis in the
preparation of the interim condensed
financial statements.

Should the Company be unable to achieve a
successful restructuring and to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the financial
statements to adjust the value of the
Company’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the
interim condensed financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

2.2

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The interim condensed financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 have
been prepared in accordance with IAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting and the
disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules.

The interim condensed financial statements
do not include all the information and
disclosures required in the annual financial
statements, and should be read in
conjunction with the Company’s annual
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012.

The accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of the interim condensed
financial statements are consistent with those
used in the preparation of the Company’s
annual financial statements for the vyear
ended 31 December 2012, except for the
adoption of the new and revised IFRSs as of
1 January 2013, noted below:
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & Z.

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for
comparative information (Amendment)

The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the
difference between voluntary additional
comparative information and the minimum
required comparative information. An entity
must include comparative information in the
related notes to the financial statements
when it voluntarily provides comparative
information beyond the minimum required
comparative period. The additional voluntarily
comparative information does not need to be
presented in a complete set of financial
statements.

An opening statement of financial position
(known as the ‘third balance sheet’) must be
presented when an entity applies an
accounting policy retrospectively, makes
retrospective restatements, or reclassifies
items in its financial statements, provided
that any of those changes has a material
effect on the statement of financial position
at the beginning of the preceding period.
The amendment clarifies that a third balance
sheet does not have to be accompanied by
comparative information in the related notes.
Under IAS 34, the minimum items required
for interim condensed financial statements
do not include a third balance sheet.

IAS 32 Tax effects of distributions to holders
of equity instruments (Amendment)

The amendment to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation clarifies that
income taxes arising from distributions to
equity holders are accounted for in
accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. The
amendment removes existing income tax
requirements from IAS 32 and requires
entities to apply the requirements in IAS 12
to any income tax arising from distributions
to equity holders. The amendment did not
have an impact on the interim condensed
financial statements for the Company, as
there is no tax consequences attached to
cash or non-cash distribution.
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2.2

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IAS 34 Interim financial reporting and
segment information for total assets and
liabilities (Amendment)

The amendment clarifies the requirements in
IAS 34 relating to segment information for
total assets and liabilities for each reportable
segment to enhance consistency with the
requirements in IFRS 8 Operating Segments.
Total assets and liabilities for a reportable
segment need to be disclosed only when the
amounts are regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker. The amendment
does not have an impact on the Company.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised 2011)

The revised IAS 19 includes a number of
amendments to the accounting for defined
benefit plans, including actuarial gains and
losses that are now recognised in OCl and
permanently excluded from profit and loss;
and expected returns on plan assets that are
no longer recognised in profit or loss.
Instead, there is a requirement to recognize
interest on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) in profit or loss, calculated using the
discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation, and; unvested past service
costs are now recognised in profit or loss at
the earlier of occurrence of the amendment
and the recognition of the related
restructuring or termination costs. Other
amendments include new disclosures, such
as, quantitative sensitivity disclosures. The
transition to the revised IAS 19 had no
impact on the Company.

2.2

Interim Report 2013

=ZFENA=FHIENEA

FE PR P B 75 R 5 22

BB @ R R FB45 A EE R B &
IR T R 7 B H (1EET)

ZEFTEEER S EREI4RFE
E‘ﬁx—fiiﬁ“*ﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁfiﬁ’]“*
ﬁﬂﬂ’]ﬁm LA — 25 B3 B BR B 75 3R

AR EHEE D BRHOBEIRTER
% o EERBFEAEZRSHBOL
ﬁ@&ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ THERTFE=E
BRRE  HABBERBTAEZ®RD
BHBEERERE - ZEFTHAEAR
Rizk3-7 40

@/i’Z B EAF19 IR WEF (= F —

FHEEET)

KERTEBR LR E19R Y RER
Met gz @at By AEZIRER]

BREBAENELERRNA G ZEK
REABERLTBEREBERIERZA: K
EHAEHEERRTBENMERAER -
MARERERERANAERNEE
(BE)FEAEZMNE - AAFSK
Hllﬁﬁf’E?rﬁﬁﬁ?E%‘JﬁEZﬂEfﬁﬁ?r
B RBBOBERERAEER
?"‘Ejﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁiﬂﬂzﬁkzﬁféﬁﬁw

ZBREERE R EFEED/L/\ o H{ERT B
BT WELCERERE - B
/X:E-:,ﬁ&f FIEIR gt R 195 H A

DALMY E -



2.2

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — Amendments to IFRS 7

The amendments require an entity to
disclose information about rights to set-off
financial instruments and related
arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements).
The disclosures would provide users with
information that is useful in evaluating the
effect of netting arrangements on an entity’s
financial position. The new disclosures are
required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance
with IAS 32. The disclosures also apply to
recognised financial instruments that are
subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with
IAS 32. As the Company is not setting off
financial instruments in accordance with IAS
32 and does not have relevant offsetting
arrangements, the amendments do not have
an impact on the Company.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of
guidance under IFRS for all fair value
measurements. IFRS 13 does not change
when an entity is required to use fair value,
but rather provides guidance on how to
measure fair value under IFRS when fair
value is required or permitted. IFRS 13 also
requires specific disclosures on fair values,
some of which replace existing disclosure
requirements in other standards, including
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
The application of IFRS 13 has not materially
impacted the fair value measurements
carried out by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

2.2

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

In addition to the above-mentioned
amendments and new standards, IFRS 1
First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards was amended with
effect for reporting periods starting on or
after 1 January 2013. The Company is not a
first-time adopter of IFRS, therefore, this
amendment is not relevant to the Company.
The Company has not early adopted any
other standard, interpretation or amendment
that has been issued but is not yet effective.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

No revenue and segment information were
presented as the Company did not conduct
business during the period.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, the
directors of the Company believe that it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
completeness, existence and accuracy of
revenue and segment information of the
Company for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of
the revenue and segment information as for
the six months ended 30 June 2013 of the
date of approval of the interim condensed
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

OTHER SUSPENSE ACCOUNT

As disclosed in notes 2.1, 9 and 10 to the
interim condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate the complete books and records of
the Company for the current and the
previous years. The other suspense account
represents loss recognised in respect of the
aggregate amounts of the credit balances of
bank transactions of which the directors of
the Company have been unable to locate
relevant books and records during the six
months ended 30 June 2013. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
amounts for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of
the disclosures loss recognised as other
suspense account for the six months ended
30 June 2013 as of the date of approval of
the interim condensed financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

5.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at
after charging the amounts as set out below.

MRBLAIEE
AARBBATEEE R TIIKE -

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=+THLAEAR

2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%ET T
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REERZ) (REFER)

Loss before taxation has been

arrived at after charging: 70 AT /&5 98
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRAKA(BIEES
emoluments): ) -
— Salaries and wages — TE& KR

— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
amounts for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, occurrence and accuracy of
those expenses for the six months ended 30
June 2013 as of the date of approval of the
interim condensed financial statements.

— RREEH &4

=5
A
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The Hong Kong Profits Tax rate was 16.5%
(six months ended 30 June 2012: 16.5%). No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Company did not have any
assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for
the period.

The income tax expenses can be reconciled
to the loss before taxation per the
condensed statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

6. FREHEX

EBFEHER165% (BE-T—=
FARA=ZTHIEAREA16.5%) - AR
ARRPE AR ER BB ELEME
MRBE R - B BB ENEHE
& -

R ZERREREMEEE
HRNNRBATEELRNT

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=+HLAER

2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT AR¥EFT
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(REE &) (REFEZ)

Loss before taxation BRELATE B (2,408) (11,530)

Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEREZHE (397) (1,902)
Effect of unrecognised deductible RFER A EKINEIE &

losses and deductible temporary AIENEREER

differences nE e 397 1,902
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
amounts for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness and accuracy of the income
tax for the six months ended 30 June 2013
as of the date of approval of the interim
condensed financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or proposed by
the Company during the six months ended
30 June 2013 (six months ended 30 June
2012: RMB Nil).

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate to the complete books and records
of the Company for the current and the
previous periods. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous
management of the Group did not response
to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
amounts for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
existence and accuracy of the dividends for
the six months ended 30 June 2013 as of
the date of approval of the interim
condensed financial statements.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 BA B 7% 3R & MY =

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 8. AATIBBEANELEESREBE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share RARHEANEBEGREXREE IR
attributable to owners of the Company is BTOSRE:
based on the following data:

Six months ended 30 June

BEAA=+HLREAR

2013 2012
—T—=% —E—_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ET T
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(REE®) (RIEEZ)

Loss o]

Loss for the period attributable to i &+ & & 18 & A
owners of the Company for the BZARRHEAA

purpose of basic loss per FEIEERARE B
share (2,408) (11,530)
Six months ended 30 June
HBENA=+BLEXER
2013 2012
—E—-=% —E——F
Number of shares BHEE
Weighted average number of AR EERERE
ordinary shares for the 182 &k n i
purpose of basic loss per RSk
share 1,010,500,000 1,010,500,000
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate the complete books and records of
the Company for the current and the
previous periods. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous
management of the Group did not response
to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain
amounts for the current and the previous
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
accuracy of the loss per share of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June
2013 as of the date of approval of the
interim condensed financial statements.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for
the six months ended 30 June 2012 and
2013 does not assume the conversion of the
Company’s outstanding share option since
their conversion would result in a decrease
in the loss per share for both periods.

8.
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5 BA B 7% 3R & MY =

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 June 2013, the Company’s bank
balances carry market interest rate of 0.10%
per annum (31 December 2012: 0.08% per
annum).

The Company’s bank balances and cash as
at 30 June 2013 and 31 December 2012
respectively denominated in following

9. HMITHBRRRE

RZE—Z=ZFA=1tH ZRFHIR
THEBIRMBEFK010% (ZT—=
F+-A=+—8: FFX0.08%) it

5 .
B

ARARTE-=FAA=+AR"F
——Ft- A=+ -ANRTEBE

BenplRATERHE:

currencies:

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
NR-ZT—=%F R-ZE—=F
~A=+H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFTT
(Audited) (Audited)
(BE) (BEZ)

Currency: (544
United States Dollars E 37 93
HK$ BT 18 297

The Company’s bank balances and cash
denominated in RMB are not a freely
convertible currency in the international
market. The remittance of RMB out of the
PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the Government of the PRC.

ARRRITHEBEASEARETE
HIFR AR M5 EH RN T
o B R S A B B R 7R 3 S o B R

EHERINERS] -
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Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
(Continued)

As disclosed in note 32 of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2010 (the “2010
Financial Statements”), a bank balances and
cash amounted to approximately
RMB11,523,000 was recorded on the
statement of financial position of the
Company at 31 December 2010. Except for
bank balances of approximately RMB3,000,
the directors of the Company have been
unable to locate the bank accounts. The
Company engaged the Forensic Accountants
to conduct investigations, including (i) send
letters to the Predecessor Auditors to
request them provide the relevant bank
information; and (ii) send letters to banks in
Hong Kong (including licensed banks,
restricted licensed banks and deposit-taking
companies) (collectively referred as to the
“Banks”) to make enquiry on whether the
Company maintained any bank accounts in
the Banks. However, as of the date of
approval of the interim condensed financial
statements, the Predecessor Auditors only
replied that the relevant information was not
available as it was located in their PRC
office. In addition, no Banks have indicated
the existence of any bank accounts of the
Company up to the date of approval of these
financial statements. Given these
circumstances, the directors of the Company
recognised a loss approximately
RMB11,520,000 as other suspense accounts
in the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2011.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

(Continued)
As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the

directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to books and
records of the Company, including books
and records of certain bank transactions of
the Company took place for the six months
ended 30 June 2013. Given incomplete
books and records of the Company and the
Company’s previous management did not
response to the request for information, it
would be impossible and impracticable to
ascertain these bank transactions which took
place for the six months ended 30 June
2013. Given these circumstances, the
directors of the Company have recognised (i)
losses of approximately HK$2,534,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB2,035,000)
in respect of the aggregate amounts of the
credit balances of bank transactions took
place during the six months ended 30 June
2013 as other suspense accounts in the
statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the six months
ended 30 June 2013; and (i) liabilities of
approximately HK$2,123,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,700,000) in respect of
the aggregate amounts of the debit balance
of bank transactions took place during the
six months ended 30 June 2013 as accrued
expenses and other payables in the
statements of financial position as at 30
June 2013. No representation is therefore
made by the directors of the Company as to
the completeness, existence and accuracy of
the bank balances and cash, and underlying
cash transactions for the six months ended
30 June 2013 as of the date of approval of
the interim condensed financial statements.

9. RITEHBRREE(E)

40 R HA S BA B TS R R B SE2 1 BT
BARAERERERIREHAA
AEMEEE  BEARIIREES
T—=FRNA=ZtHERNEAZET
RITXSEMELEE - BRAR AR
MRLETTERARRNEEERE
WEREEMEMERNNFR  ZH§
ERBE-_T—=FA=Z1+H1EX
BAZZERTRIEBTAIRERT
BER - ERBZFBER ARARESEE
=FXNA=+ALNE
AZzBIX S EERBEERERER
#92,534,000% ;T(HH & RO A B
2,035,0007T)  EHE-T—=F~A
=STHIEAERZEZ REMEE
R NG EE M B R BRIE R (i) BB
EZR-ZFXNAZHALEANEAZR
TRGEHNEHRBREERAEY
2,123,000 ;t(#H & B & A R &
1,700,0007T) * FE=E—=4F A=+
BZHBHRARANIERT R RE
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SRR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

10.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER 10. ETHXZIREMBEMRRIE
PAYABLES

As at As at
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
NR-ZFT—=% R-Z——fF
~B=+H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTF T
(Unaudited) (Audited)
(REEZ) (42 +%)
Accrued expenses Bt X 1,968 1,729
Amount due to a subsidiary FE BB A R 3R 810 810
Amount due to a related party &1 & 75 5B 129 —
Other payables Hofh E S 3B 14,229 12,543
17,136 15,082

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries. In addition, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate books and records of certain bank
transactions took place for the six months
ended 30 June 2013. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous
management of the Group did not response
to request for information, it would be
impossible and impracticable to ascertain
these bank transactions took place for the
six months ended 30 June 2013 and to
obtain sufficient documentary information to
satisfy themselves regarding the nature,
completeness, existence and accuracy of
these bank transactions. Given these
circumstances, the directors of the Company
have recognised (i) liabilities of approximately
HK$13,142,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB10,642,000) in respect of the aggregate
amounts of the debit balances of bank
transactions took place for the current and
previous periods; and (ii) liabilities of
approximately RMB3,587,000 among which
the directors of the Company have been
unable to locate relevant books and records
in the statements of financial position as
other payables at 30 June 2013.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 BA B 7% 3R & MY =

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER
PAYABLES (Continued)

As further disclosed in note 21 to the
financial statements, the directors of the
Company have been unable to locate and to
get access to the complete books and
records of the Company and the De-
consolidated Subsidiaries for the current and
the previous periods. Given the incomplete
books and records and the previous
management of the Group did not response
to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
balances of the amount due to a subsidiary
and other payables for the current and the
previous periods. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the
Company as to the completeness, existence
and accuracy of the accrued expenses and
other payables as of the date of approval of
the interim condensed financial statements.

Amount due to a related party was interest-
free and repayable on demand.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

11. SHARE CAPITAL 11. %N
Number of
shares  Share capital
(378 4= ;33
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: VETE
As at 30 June 2012 and RZZT—ZF
30 June 2013 (HK$0.00001 NA=tHK
each) —E-=4F
~NA=+H
(B EE
0.000017 7T) 38,000,000,000 380
Number of
shares Share capital
K8 E ;3
HK$'000 RMB’000
FE T AR¥ETF T
Issued: OB LT
As at 30 June 2012 BT —ZF
and 30 June 2013 ~NA=ZtTER
—T-=F
~A=1+H 1,010,500,000 10 9

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

As set out in note 16 to the interim
condensed consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2011 which were authorised for issue
on 18 August 2011 (the “2011 Interim
Report”), the Company’s share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 10
October 2010 for the purpose to reward the
directors and employees who have
contributed to the Group and to encourage
the directors and employees to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and will expire
on 9 October 2020. Under the Scheme, the
board of directors of the Company may
grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

The maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme of the Company
shall not, in the absence of shareholders’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% in
nominal amount of the aggregate of shares
in issue on the listing date.

The maximum number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each grantee under the Scheme
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue for the time being.
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12.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

Where any further grant of options to a
director or employee would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in
aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue,
such further grant must be separately
approved by shareholders in general meeting
with such director or employee and his
associates abstaining from voting. The
Company must send a circular to the
shareholders disclosing the identity of the
director or employee in question, the number
and terms of the options to be granted (and
options previously granted to such director
or employee) and such other information
required under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

At any time, the maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all
options which then have been granted and
have yet to be exercised under the Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time. The Share
Options vested on 28 October 2012 and the
exercisable period of the Share Options was
from 28 October 2012 to 27 October 2014.

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 April 2011 and the
2011 Interim Report, the Company granted
to eligible directors and employees
(“Grantees”) 27,000,000 share options (the
“Share Options”) to subscribe for ordinary
shares of HK$0.00001 each in the Company,
at an exercise price of HK$3.512 per share.

The closing price of the Company’s shares
immediately before 28 April 2011, the date of
grant, was HK$3.15 per share.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continueq)

Details of the movement of the share options
during the current and the previous periods
and the outstanding number of share options
balance as at 30 June 2013 are as follows:

12.

VAR 9 B B 1t 4 3K

481 T8 50 0 2 R A 22 8 2
BT —=EAA=THZBTHF
ERRERENT

Number of

share

options

BREHRE

Balance as at 1 January 2011 RZZT——F—A—B2#&#% —

Share options grant during the year FRR LT BRE 27,000,000
Balance as at 31 December 2011, R-_Z2——F+-_A=+—8"

1 January 2012 and 30 June 2012 —T——F—A—AK

—E—HFXA=THZ&H 27,000,000

Lapsed of share options B AR M K (3,000,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2012 and RZFE—Z—F+ZA=+—HEK

1 January 2013 ZE—=F—A—HZHEH 24,000,000

Lapsed of share options R R (12,000,000)
Balance as at 30 June 2013 RZZE—=FNA=+TRHZ&EH®

As further disclosed in the 2011 Interim
Report, the total fair values of the options
determined at the date of grant using the
Binomial model were HK$28,701,000
(equivalent to RMB23,868,000). The following
assumptions were used to calculate the fair
value of share options:

12,000,000

BMFTE— S RE - NBRLBHER
—HEAEAEENEREATELSR
/28,701,000 ;t(H & W A R ¥
23,868,00070) ° LA~ Jh A LAt E BB R
BAFENRS:

28 April 2011

—g——%

A=+N\BH

Grant date share price BB E HK$3.157%5 7T
Exercise price T HK$3.512/%8 7T
Expected volatility 8 AR 18 50%
Dividend yield & B& 0%
Risk-free interest rate 2 L B ) K 1.2%
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

12.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

The Binomial model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the options. The
variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the Share
Options are based on the directors’ best
estimate. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the fair
value of the options.

As disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 April 2011 and the
2011 Interim Financial Statements, the share
options would be vested on 28 October
2012. The Company therefore recognised
share-based payments expenses of
approximately RMB7,891,000 for the six
months ended 30 June 2012 based on the
vesting period and which has been charged
to the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the six months
ended 30 June 2012. In addition, as further
disclosed in the Company’s monthly returns
dated 4 February 2013, 12,000,000 share
options have been lapsed and the Company
transferred the balances of the share option
reserve of approximately HK$10,608,000 to
accumulated losses in the statement of
changes in equity.

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate the complete books and records of
the Company for the previous periods
including the Scheme, books and records
relating to the Share Options and the details
of the fair value assessment underlying the
Share Options. Given the incomplete books
and records and the previous management
of the Group did not response to any
request for information, it is impossible and
impracticable for the directors of the
Company to ascertain the balances for the
previous periods. No representation is
therefore made by the directors of the
Company as to the completeness, existence
and accuracy of the share-based payments
transaction for the six months ended 2013
as of the date of approval of the interim
condensed financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR T

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Balances with related parties

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the
interim condensed financial
statements, the Company did not
have any significant material related
party transactions during the period.

(b) Key management personnel
emoluments

The remuneration for key
management is disclosed in note 5.

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
absence of key personnel, it is impossible
and impracticable for the directors of the
Company to ascertain the balances for the
periods. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the
disclosure of related party transactions for
the six months ended 30 June 2013 as at
the date of approval of the interim
condensed financial statements.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F —=%#F X H=+HI~1GA

14.

15.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

COMMITMENTS

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous prior periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
balances for the periods. No representation
is therefore made by the directors of the
Company as to the completeness, existence
and accuracy of the disclosure of
commitments for the six months ended 30
June 2013 as at the date of approval of the
interim condensed financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As disclosed in note 21 to the interim
condensed financial statements, the
directors of the Company have been unable
to locate and to get access to the complete
books and records of the Company and the
De-consolidated Subsidiaries for the current
and the previous periods. Given the
incomplete books and records and the
previous management of the Group did not
response to any request for information, it is
impossible and impracticable for the
directors of the Company to ascertain the
balances for the current and the previous
period. No representation is therefore made
by the directors of the Company as to the
completeness, existence and accuracy of the
disclosure of contingent liabilities for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 as at the date
of approval of the interim condensed
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the interim
condensed financial statements, the
Company had the following events after the
end of the reporting period:

Changes in the directors of the Company

(i) Mr. Chiang Chi Kin Stephen was
resigned as independent non-
executive director of the Company
with effect from 31 December 2013.

(i) Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul was
appointed as executive director of the
Company with effect from 5
September 2013.

(iif) Ms. Kou Mei In was appointed as
non-executive director of the
Company and chairlady with effect
from 5 September 2013.

(iv) Mr. Sze Lin Tang was appointed as
independent non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 5
September 2013.

(v) Mr. Qiu Xiaohua was appointed as
independent non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 24
January 2014,
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16.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2013

(@)

The 5 July 2013 Announcement

On 5 July 2013, the New Controlling
Shareholder () had received valid
acceptances in respect of a total of
83,153,622 Shares under the share
offer, representing approximately
8.23% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company as at the date
of this announcement and (i) had not
received any valid acceptance in
respect of the share options under
the option offer.

The 6 November 2013
announcement

On 6 November 2013, the Company
announced it has retained the
Forensic Accountants for the purpose
of conducting the Forensic
Investigation over the Irregularities.

With effective from 25 September
2013, each of Mr. Zhao Chuanwen
and Mr. Chiok Gay Shing Andrew
ceased to be a director of Global
Milk, and Mr. Maung Shwe Linn and
Ms. Gao Mei Jie have been newly
appointed to act as directors of
Global Milk.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2014

(©

The 29 January 2014, 4 April 2014,
13 June 2014, 5 September 2014
and 28 November 2014
announcements

The Forensic Accountants has
commenced its work including but
not limited to making inquiries and
performing preliminary research on
the Potential Irregularities. However,
as most financial documents and
records were said to be damaged
and irretrievable within the Group due
to the Incident and given the limited
knowledge of the New Management
to the Potential Irregularities, there is
difficulty for the Company to
reconstruct or locate such records.
The Company has been making every
effort to retrieve such information
from different sources and parties.

However, field works of the Forensic
Accountants has yet to commence as
the Company encountered difficulties
in procuring the relevant parties
including the original management to
cooperate to enable the field work of
the Forensic Accountants to be
commenced. Having said that, the
Company tried its best efforts to
resolve these issues in order to allow
the Forensic Accountants to start its
field work and to satisfy the
resumption conditions imposed by the
Stock Exchange as soon as possible.
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16.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2014 (Continued)

(©

The 29 January 2014, 4 April 2014,
13 June 2014, 5 September 2014
and 28 November 2014
announcements (Continued)

In order to resolve the above
difficulties, the Company engaged
two PRC law firms with the
objectives to: (i) effect the change of
legal representatives and board of
directors of the PRC Subsidiaries
through legal means; and (ii) obtain
the information requested by the
Forensic Accountants. The Forensic
Accounts have also adjusted the
direction of its work plan to place
more reliance on the information to be
obtained from the third parties
sources.

Nevertheless, in view of the
uncooperative approach by the
existing management of the PRC
Subsidiaries, the Forensic
Accountants and the Company
experienced considerable difficulties
in obtaining the necessary
information for the purpose of the
forensic review. The Forensic
Investigation is still ongoing though at
a slow pace in view of the difficulties
involved.

According to the latest information
available to the Board, the Board has
reasonable belief that the PRC
Subsidiaries, namely Da Qing Dairy
and Benniu Muye are still operating
their ordinary business while Chang
Qing Dairy was suspected to have
suspended its production recently.
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For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2014 (Continued)

(©

The 29 January 2014, 4 April 2014,
13 June 2014, 5 September 2014
and 28 November 2014
announcements (Continued)

The Company has served notice to
require the board of directors of the
PRC Subsidiaries to effect the
change of their respective legal
representatives to the person
nominated by the Board. However,
the Board has not received any
positive feedback yet and the Board
is considering the available legal
remedies to effect the contemplated
change of the respective legal
representatives.

Year 2015

()

The 30 April 2015 announcement

Due to insufficient financial resources
of the Company, the Forensic
Investigation has been temporarily
halted.

While the Board will proceed with the
legal remedies to effect the change in
the legal representatives of the PRC
Subsidiaries, the Board is not
optimistic that it can be done in a
short period of time. In this regard,
the Board is exploring alternative
approach to reflect the lack of
effective control on the PRC
Subsidiaries.
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16.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2015 (Continued)

)

The 19 May 2015 announcement

On 14 May 2015, the Stock
Exchange issued a letter informing
the Company that in view of, among
others, the fact that: (a) all the
Company’s businesses are carried
out by the PRC Subsidiaries of the
Company; (b) the Company has been
facing difficulties in exercising control
over the PRC Subsidiaries; (c) the
Company was refused to access to
their offices and factories and was
not provided with any information,
books and records; and (d) the
request for changing the PRC
Subsidiaries’ legal representatives
was not entertained, the Company
has lost its control on the PRC
Subsidiaries and the Stock Exchange
considers that the Company is unable
to maintain a sufficient level of
operations or assets required under
rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules to
support a continued listing.
Accordingly, the Stock Exchange has
decided to place the Company in the
first delisting stage pursuant to
Practice Note 17 of the Listing Rules.

The first delisting stage will expire on
13 November 2015. The Company is
required to submit a viable
resumption proposal at least ten
business days before the expiry of the
first delisting stage.
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2015 (Continued)

()

The 1 June 2015 announcement

On 1 June 2015, the company
secretary of the Company was
changed to Ms. Wong Po Ling,
Pauline and the address of principal
place of business in Hong Kong was
changed to Room 2512, 25/F., Cosco
Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The 23 June 2015 announcement

On 4 May 2015, the New Controlling
Shareholder entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Global
Courage pursuant to which the New
Controlling Shareholder agreed to sell
and Global Courage agreed to
purchase the sale shares,
representing of approximately
60.39% of the entire share capital of
the Company at a consideration of
approximately HK$61,019,000,
representing HK$0.1 per sale share.

Upon completion and as at the date
of this joint announcement, Global
Courage and parties acting in
concert with it are interested in
610,193,622 Shares, representing
approximately 60.39% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company.
Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the
Takeovers Code, Global Courage is
required to make an unconditional
mandatory general offer in cash for all
the issued shares other than those
already owned by Global Courage
and parties acting in concert with it.
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16.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2015 (Continued)

©)]

The 23 June 2015 announcement
(Continueq)

Head & Shoulders Securities Limited
will, on behalf of Global Courage,
make the offer, which is unconditional
in all respects in compliance with the
Takeovers Code, at HK$0.10 per offer
share, which is the same as the price
per sale share paid by Global
Courage to the New Controlling
Shareholder under the sale and
purchase agreement. Veda Capital
Limited, being the financial adviser to
Global Courage in respect of the
offer, is satisfied that sufficient
financial resources are available to
Global Courage to satisfy full
acceptances of the offer.

On the basis of the offer price of
HK$0.10 per offer share and
1,010,500,000 shares in issue as at
the date of this joint announcement,
the entire issued share capital of the
Company is valued at approximately
HK$101.05 million. Excluding
610,193,622 sale shares having been
acquired by Global Courage pursuant
to the sale and purchase agreement,
400,306,378 Shares will be subject to
the offer. Assuming there is no
change in the issued share capital of
the Company prior to the making of
the offer, the offer is valued at
approximately HK$40.03 million.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

) B B % R 2R MY R

For the six months ended 30 June 2013 & £ =F — =44 A=1+HI1~1EA

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Year 2015 (Continued)

W)

The 23 November 2015
announcement

On 19 November 2015, the Stock
Exchange issued a letter to the
Company stating that: () the first
delisting stage has expired on 13
November 2015 but the Company
has not submitted any resumption
proposal before the deadline; and (ii)
the Stock Exchange decided to place
the Company in the second delisting
stage under Practice Note 17 of the
Listing Rules. The second delisting
stage will expire on 18 May 2016.
The Company should provide a viable
resumption proposal at least 10
business days before the second
delisting stage expires (i.e. 3 May
2016).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

At the request of the Company, trading in the
shares of the Company has been suspended since
22 March 2012 due to the resignation of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the predecessor auditors of the
Company (the “Predecessor Auditors”) and delay in
publication of the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the years ended 31 December 2011,
2012, 2013 and 2014 and the interim results
thereof.

On 21 March 2012, the Board and audit committee
of the Company received a letter from the
Predecessor Auditors advising their resignation as
auditors of the Company. As set out in the
resignation letter dated 21 March 2012 from the
Predecessor Auditors advising their concerns (the
“Potential Irregularities”) to the financial statements
including: 1) certain milk procurement transactions
brought to the attention of former management and
acknowledged by them to be fraudulent; 2)
unexplained differences between sales receipt notes
sighted during audit work in February 2012 and
documents purporting to be the same sales receipt
notes returned to the Company in March 2012
ostensibly following a Tax Bureau investigation; 3)
the explanation provided by former management —
The Tax Bureau investigation — for removing
accounting records which were then not available to
the Predecessor Auditors continuously during the
audit; 4) the validity and commercial substance of
acquisitions of milk stations, farm houses and
Holstein cattle; and 5) difficulties of which the
Predecessor Auditors encountered during their visits
to the local branch of one of the Group’s banks.

An independent review committee comprised of
those independent non-executive Directors at that
material time and other qualified independent
individuals was established in March 2012 to
conduct a review on the Potential Irregularities.
Subsequently, the independent review committee
was dissolved due to the resignations of those
independent non-executive Directors.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On 2 January 2013, it was discovered that the
heating pipes of the offices of the subsidiary, X &
I A R ET A F (for identification purpose, Da
Qing Dairy Ltd.) located in Daqing City, Heilongjiang
Province of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), were cracked as result of severe coldness
(below minus 32T) in the northern area of the PRC
and pipeline aging. Due to cracking of the heating
pipes, the first and second floors of the offices had
been soaked, and extensive damages were done to
the office facilities, computers and documents in the
offices of the finance, logistics, administration and
engineering departments of the Group.

On 8 February 2013, the then controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Zhao Yu, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement pursuant to
which Mr. Zhao agreed to sell and Radiant State
Limited (the “New Controlling Shareholder”) agreed
to purchase the sale shares, representing
approximately 52.16% of the entire share capital of
the Company at a consideration of HK$52,704,000,
representing HK$0.1 per sale share (the “General
Purchase”). As disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 5 July 2013, the New
Controlling Shareholder received valid acceptances
in respect of a total 83,153,622 shares in the
Company under the unconditional mandatory cash
offer (the “Share Acceptance”), representing 8.23%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company.
Following completion of the General Purchase and
the Share Acceptance, the New Controlling
Shareholder held 60.39% equity interest in the
Company.

On 5 September 2013, Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul
was appointed as executive Director, Ms. Kou Mei In
was appointed as non-executive Director and Mr.
Sze Lin Tang was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director.

On 6 November 2013, the Company has engaged
RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited
(formerly known as “RSM Nelson Wheeler Corporate
Advisory Limited”) (the “Forensic Accountants”) to
provide forensic accounting services to the
Company. The Forensic Accountants were engaged
to investigate and to evaluate the Potential
Irregularities raised by the Predecessor Auditors and
to identify any person who may be responsible for
the Potential Irregularities, if applicable (the
“Forensic Investigation”).
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The current management of the Company has been
making every effort to facilitate the Forensic
Accountants in Forensic Investigation. However, (1)
the Forensic Accountants were yet to commence
their field work as the Company and the Forensic
Accountants have encountered difficulties in
procuring relevant parties including the previous
management of the Group to cooperate in the field
work of the Forensic Investigation; (2) two PRC law
firms were engaged with the objectives to (i) effect
the change of legal representatives and board of
directors of Da Qing Dairy, Heilongjiang Chang Qing
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (BEIFEAEXBREMT
A @]) and Wuchang Benniu Muye Co., Ltd (7L % #
M EAR AT AT (collectively referred as to the
“PRC Subsidiaries”) through legal means; and (ii)
obtain information requested by the Forensic
Accountants; and (3) the contemplate change of
respective legal representatives of the PRC
Subsidiaries could not be effected and due to
insufficient financial resources of the Company, the
Forensic Investigation has been temporarily halted.

Subsequently, the New Controlling Shareholder
appointed two individuals into the board of directors
of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Global Milk Products
Pte. Ltd, which is incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore (“Global Milk”). However, the Directors
could not locate complete books and records of the
Company and Global Milk and the previous
managements of the Company and Global Milk have
continued ignoring the request for any information.

Given the circumstances that the books and records
of the Company, Global Milk and the PRC
Subsidiaries have been unable to locate and access
and in the absence of the Group’s previous
management to explain and validate the true state of
the affairs of the Company, it would be extremely
difficult and time consuming to ascertain the true
and correct financial position and performance of
the Company. A reconstruction of the correct
accounting records would also be almost
impossible as it will be necessary to verify the
information with external and independent sources
and such sources may not be available or may be
unreliable due to their connections with the Group’s
previous management or those responsible for the
financial information which the Predecessor Auditors
identified the Potential Irregularities within and
outside of the Group.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 14 May 2015, The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) issued a letter
to the Company informing that the Company was
placed in the first delisting stage pursuant to
Practice Note 17 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

On 19 November 2015, the Stock Exchange issued
a letter to the Company stating that the Company
was placed in the second delisting stage. The
Company should provide a viable resumption
proposal at least 10 business days before 3 May
2016 (the expiry date of second delisting stage) to:

1) demonstrate sufficient operations of assets
under rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules;

2) conduct forensic investigation on the issues
raised by the Predecessor Auditors, disclose
the findings of the investigation and take any
remedial actions;

3) demonstrate that there is no reasonable
regulatory concern about the character, level
of due care and integrity the Company’s
management which will pose a risk to
investors and damage market confidence;

4) publish all outstanding financial results and
address any audit qualification;

5) demonstrate that the Company has put in
place adequate financial reporting
procedures and internal control systems to
meet obligations under the Listing Rules;
and

6) inform the market of material information for
the shareholders and the investors to
appraise the Group’s operation.

On 4 May 2015, the New Controlling Shareholder
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Global Courage Limited (“Global Courage”) pursuant
to which the New Controlling Shareholder agreed to
sell and Global Courage agreed to purchase the
sale shares, representing approximately 60.39% of
the entire share capital of the Company at a
consideration of approximately HK$61,019,000,
representing HK$0.1 per sale share. Upon
completion of the sales and purchase agreement,
Global Courage is required to make an
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unconditional mandatory general offer in cash for all
the issued shares of the Company other than those
already owned by Global Courage and parties
acting in concert with it under the Hong Kong Code
on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeovers Code”).
Head & Shoulders Securities Limited will, on behalf
of Global Courage, make the offer, which is
unconditional in all respects in compliance with the
Takeovers Code, at HK$0.10 per offer share, which
is the same as the price per sale share paid by
Global Courage to the New Controlling Shareholder
under the sale and purchase agreement.

It is expected that the potential investor will review
the operations of the Group and explore any other
business opportunities that may arise in the market,
which does not limit to any particular industry, from
time to time that it considers value enhancing to
shareholders of the Company and/or otherwise in
the best interests of the Group. The management of
the Company will prepare a viable resumption
proposal to be submitted to the Stock Exchange for
application of resumption of trading of shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Due to the loss of control over the subsidiaries in
Singapore and in the PRC, the financial statements
of those subsidiaries have been de-consolidated
from the consolidated financial information of the
Group. There was no turnover during for the six
months ended 30 June 2013 (six months ended 30
June 2012: Nil). The loss for the six months ended
30 June 2013 was approximately RMB2,408,000 (six
months ended 30 June 2012: approximately
RMB11,5630,000). The loss for the period mainly
attributed from loss on incomplete books and
records in respect of bank transactions and rental
expense.

INTERIM DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend to pay any interim

dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2013
(six months ended 30 June 2012: Nil).

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 30 June 2013, the Company had total assets
of approximately RMB55,000 (31 December 2012:
approximately RMB390,000). The assets of the
Company as at 30 June 2013 were bank balances
and cash. During the period under review, the
Company has yet to have any financial restructuring
plan.

As at 30 June 2013, the Company’s current
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB17,136,000
(31 December 2012: approximately
RMB15,082,000).

The net liabilities value per share of the Company
was approximately RMB0.017 as at 30 June 2013
(31 December 2012: approximately RMB0.015). The
net liabilities value per share was computed based
on 1,010,500,000 ordinary shares in issue as at 30
June 2013 and 31 December 2012 respectively.

The gearing ratio as computed based on total
interest bearing indebtedness over total assets. No
gearing ratio was computed as the Company did
not have interest bearing indebtedness as at 30
June 2013 and 31 December 2012 respectively.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2013, the Company had no charges
on its assets (31 December 2012: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the six months ended 30 June 2013, there was
no change in the capital structure and issued share
capital of the Company.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING

The Company did not enter any new significant
investment and acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries during the six months ended 30 June
2013 (six months ended 30 June 2012: Nil).
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NON-COMPLIANCE OF APPENDIX 16
“DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION” OF THE LISTING RULES

Given the circumstances that the Directors lose
control of subsidiaries in Singapore and in the PRC
and unable to locate and get access to the
complete books and records of the de-consolidated
subsidiaries, no sufficient data available to compile
this interim report so as to comply with the
Appendix 16 “Disclosure of Financial Information” of
the Listing Rules. The following information has been
omitted:

1. Connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions with the connected
person as defined in Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules;

2. Details of related party transactions;

3. Details of the number and remuneration of
employees, remuneration policies, and the

retirement benefits scheme; and

4. Details of commitments and contingent
liabilities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Company’s functional currency is RMB. The
foreign currency risk of the Company is the foreign
currencies deposited in the bank. As at 30 June
2013, the Company had bank balances of
approximately RMB37,000 (31 December 2012:
approximately RMB93,000) and approximately
RMB18,000 (31 December 2012: approximately
RMB297,000) denominated in USD and HKD
respectively.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period of the
Company are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

PROSPECTS
The Board is in the process of identifying suitable

target for business cooperation and/or acquisition
and preparing for the resumption proposal.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2013, none of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company nor their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the six
months ended 30 June 2013 was the Company, or
any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries or its
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors and chief executives of the
Company (including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age) to hold any interest or short
positions in the shares, or underlying shares, or
debentures, of the Company or its associated
corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

TEREBRAEMEHN

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2013, the following persons or
corporations (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) were interested in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company
which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or to be disclosed under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO and the Listing Rules:

TERERKRG - HEARGHESB
HERRXE

REZF-=FX A=1+H8 UTAL(EER
ARBEBTHRABBRINIZARBRIEE S
R EGRPIFEI6HAFEN R B LA
R RN REE SR E GO EXVEBE2RS
DEAEX R EMRMBERBENARTDE
FTRA T %A R

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of Shareholder  Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company
e ®T EARRAE BT

REER 54 ZTEREE BABEDL

Radiant State Limited Beneficial owner 527,040,000 (L) 52.16%

BHAFRRQF BEmBEBA

Mr. Kyan Su Lone (Note) Interest of controlled 527,040,000 (L) 52.16%

corporation
R A (I EE) ZEGEE R
Extensive Success Limited Interest of controlled 57,000,000 (L) 5.64%

corporation

Extensive Success Limited 52 3% 1 0% B 4% 25

(L): Long position

Note:  The 527,040,000 Shares are held by Radiant State
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Kyan Su
Lone. Thus, he is deemed to be interested in the
527,040,000 Shares held by Radiant State Limited

pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2013, the
Company had not been notified by any person or
company, other than Directors or chief executives of
the Company whose interest are set out in the
section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report, who had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company which would fall to be

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
change of information on Directors as follows:

Name of Directors

B2

TEERRAEMER

BEE - RNIRIEE R B IG5 336 1K E 5
BN ZMGEAE MO AR RN - AER
MNREEREFEAREEIRR -

FHRESENEHZHE

R\ EHRAE1B51B1) G EFERHME
BT -

Details of changes

SHEM

Mr. Wang Delin (Executive Director)

TRMEE@HTEF)

Mr. Ng Kwong Chue Paul
(Executive Director)

RAEBEREBTEE)

Ms. Kou Mei In (Non-Executive Director)

BERLL(HHTEE)

Mr. Sze Lin Tang
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

MEREE (B IEHTTEF)

Mr. Qiu Xiaohua
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

RBE R (B UHFHITEF)

Further information on the disclosure of change in
information of directors is set out

in the

He has been appointed as the executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company with effect
from 18 August 2011.

REZTRWTES  WEEZETR/RRARITHAL -
BE-T——FN\NA+NBRBEMK -

He has been appointed as the executive Director with
effect from 5 September 2013.

BEZREANTESE AT =FNLALREEXK -

She has been appointed as the chairlady of the board
and the non-executive Director with effect from 5
September 2013.
BEZAREFSEIRLRIENTES BT —=F
NARBREN-

He has been appointed as the independent non-
executive Director with effect from 5 September 2013.

BREZEAWTES BT =FNLARAREN -

He has been appointed as the independent non-
executive Director with effect from 24 January 2014.
WERTAHTESE AT NFE—AB_tHWARLE
e

FREFEHED BN E-THBRN
TECHEERIERERE -

Biographical Details of Directors contained in the

2012 annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

TEERRAEMER

Save as disclosed above, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the financial period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) which was approved by the
written resolutions of all the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and adopted by the
resolutions of the Board passed on 10 October
2010 (the “Adoption Date”). The Share Option
Scheme is for a period of 10 years commencing
from the Adoption Date, after which period no
further options shall be granted.

B EXFEEEIN  EEMERE ETHR
AIE13.51B) & T AR BRI E R -

BE HESBEEAAT EHES

BB - AR ) s E A AT Y A B A
WE BOIHETMNARRAZLETES -

B x5t &

ARTRMGEAT 2 BRE(BRE)UEE
RRRIE Y AN =F—F A+ 8 (R
58 3 8 A B S o R AR B
) (178 BB 5T 1)) - 76 B 31 81 & 5% 4 B 28
A BHIOF - KR 13 517 AR -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

Details of the movements in share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the six
months ended 30 June 2013 are as follows:

TEERRAEMER

BEZT-—=—FXA=ZTRLERER REE
Rt B R HA BN ZEFBENT

Granted Exercised  Lapsed  Cancelled
Date of Grant of ~Outstanding during the during the during the  during the ~ Outstanding Exercise
Name of Category ~ Share Option at 01.01.2013 period period period period at 30.06.2013 Vesting period  Exercise period price (HKS)
R-F-zf RZ§-z%
-A-8 R ER | iR
LR BRERLES ARTE  BARY BAGE BREE  HREE  HRGE BEER i3] (#7)
Directors:
13
Mr. Xia Yuan Jun -~ 28.04.2011 3,000,000 0 0 (3,000,000) 0 0 2842011 28.10.2012- 3512
(resigned on 3 2110.2014 2110.2014
January 2013)
EnERE ZE--%RmA ZF--§mA ZF-ZE1R
i £ ZTNB ZTNBE ZTNBE
“E-mE k- Sit3
TAZtLA TAZttA
Mr. Fong Pin Jan  28.04.2011 3,000,000 0 0 (3,000,000 0 0 2842011 2810.2012- 3512
(resigned on 27102014 27102014
10 January
2013)
HEERE “3-—FRA L
(R-%-=% A ZTNBE ZTN\BE
—-ATRRE) Z3-m% —3-RE
TA-t¢8 TAZttA
Other Employees: ~ 28.04.2011 18,000,000 0 0 (6,000,000) 0 12000000 284.2011- 28.10.2012- 3512
2710.2014 2710.2014
AfeEE: “E--%MA S ) S A
Zthg ZtNRE “tN\RE
S —Z-pE
A=ttH TAZ T8
Total:
28 24,000,000 0 0 (12,000,000) 0 12000000

Save as disclosed above, there were no options
outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during the six months ended 30 June 2013.

B EXHEBEEIN  BHEZZ-—=ZFA=Z+HIEX
@A - B ARTE BRE - BTE - BERHEREE
SRR B AR o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

TEREBRAEMEHN

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the financial period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of
incorporating the elements of good corporate
governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability to the shareholders
as a whole. The principles and the code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules have been adopted by the Company.

In accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, the Company has established an audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) with defined term
of reference. The Company has also established a
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) with defined terms of reference. The
terms of reference of these Board committees are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The existing Board except Mr. Wang Delin (who
tendered to resign as an executive Director as per
the announcements of the Company dated 3 July
2015 and 14 July 2015) (the “Existing Board”) has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practice for the financial year under review, and has
formed the opinion that the Existing Board was
unable to comment on the compliance of the CG
Code for the six months ended 30 June 2013 due
to incomplete records of the Company from the
previous Board. The Existing Board is of the view
that apart from achieving the resumption of the
Company, one of its main priorities in 2016 is to
improve the corporate governance of the Group.

Daqing Dairy Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the model code as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”) as the required standard for securities
transactions by Directors. The Existing Board was
unable to make specific enquiry of all past
Directors, whether they have complied with the
required standard set in the Model Code and its
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions for the six months ended 30 June
2013 due to the fact that past Directors were
uncontactable and incomplete records of the
Company from the previous Board.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL
REPORTING PROVISIONS OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 21 March 2012, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”) resigned as the auditor of the Company.
The Company was in the process of identifying a
suitable replacement to fill the vacancy following the
resignation of Deloitte.

On 26 June 2013, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited (“HLB”) was appointed as the auditor of the
Company to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Deloitte. However, due to incomplete
record, the appointment of HLB was formally
engaged by the Board on 3 July 2015.

Thus, the Company could not timely comply with the
financial reporting provisions under the Listing Rules
in announcing and publishing its annual results and
annual reports for the years ended 31 December
2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 and its interim results
and interim reports for the six months ended 30
June 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ho Wing Yan resigned on 1 June 2015 and Ms.
Wong Po Ling Pauline was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 June
2015.

TEERRAEMER
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TEREBRAEMEHN

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 10
October 2010 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C3 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to provide the
Board with an independent review of the
effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the
Group, to oversee the audit process and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board. The existing Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Sze Lin Tang (being the chairman of the Audit
Committee), and Mr. Qiu Xiaohua.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS
The existing Audit Committee has reviewed the

Company’s financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2013.
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